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The Palmer-Lewis and Palmer-Gullickson octagon houses were built within 
a few years of each oth;er in the community of Neshonoc. Both were moved 
to West Salem. While the Palmer-Gullickson octagon is now situated 
in a residential area in West Salem, the Palmer-Lewis octagon is on a 
farm just north of town, near the outlying commercial district.

Although the Palmer-Lewis octagon is much smaller, both houses have two 
stories with slightly pitched hipped roofs and central chimneys. The 
roof of the Palmer-Lewis octagon is tin and that of the Palmer-Gullickson 
octagon is of combination shingles. Facets of the octagons feature 
either two windows or a single window, or are windowless. The major 
exterior difference between the houses is"' the porches. The Palmer- 
Lewis house, generally less pretentious and less modified, features 
a one-story, shed roof porch on three sides. The porch, like the cornice 
of the house, is bracketed. When the Palmer-Gullickson octagon was 
moved it probably received the rather unusual two-story veranda on five 
sides. The veranda features paired columns on both stories and a balustrade 
at the second level. Part of the veranda is screened •,

The clapboard siding on the second story of the Palmet-Gullickson octagon 
is probably original. Asbestos shingles were added at the first level 
in about 1928. The Palmer-Lewis octagon was originally sheathed in 
board and batten but at some point this was coveted with clapboard. Both 
houses feature corner boards at each angle of the octagon.

The floor plan of the Palmer-Gullickson octagon is almost identical to 
the John J. Brown House in Williamsburgh, New York. This house appeared 
in the 1854 revised addition of Orson Fowler's book, A Home For All. The 
Brown house, like the Palmer-Gullickson house, features a central fire­ 
place separating the living and dining rooms, and two long rooms of 
disproportionate width on either side of this area. The stairs are 
in the narrower portion. Upstairs, there are three bedrooms and a hallway 
where the stairs ascend. Triangular closets are built at two corners.

The Palmer-Lewis floor plan may have been taken from the 1853 edition 
of Fowler's book. Although it appears that the first floor walls were 
changed, somewhat when the house was moved, the second floor is very 
similar to the Howland house in Williamsburg, New York, designed by 
the architects Morgan and Brothers. Part of the first floor has been 
altered by the wing extending from the east side of the house, and it 
seems that a fireplace may have been removed. Presently there is a 
living room, a bedroom, a small storage room, two closets, and an entry 
hall. Upstairs there are three bedrooms, three closets," and a hallway 
where the stairs ascend. The rooms in this house are quite small, as 
the facets of the octagon only measure 11 f . The facets of the Palmer- 
Gullickson octagon measure about 13'.

The additions that have been built onto the octagons differ greatly. 
In neither case is the octagon shape ob'scured by the additions. There

(continued)
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7. DESCRIPTION continued

is a large, two-story wing extending from the north side of the Gullickson 
house. The front portion of this wing was built by Dr. Palmer as an office. 
Originally, a barn was attached to the north end of the wing. It was later 
removed and a dining room and kitchen were added to the back of the addition 
so it could be leased as an apartment. The attic was converted to a bedroom.

When the Palmer-Lewis octagon was moved to its present site it was joined 
to an existing 1-1/2 story house. The house is a plain, clapboard structure 
that has been greatly modernized. The octagon has never received plumbing 
and is only partially heated. In both the Lewis and Gullickson houses the 
original woodwork and staircases remain.

The only outbuilding at the Palmer-Gullickson octaeon is a small frame garage 
built in the 1920s. It is in poor condition but still serves its intended 
purpose. At the Palmer-Lewis octagon there are several farm outbuildings, 
all in poor condition and excluded from the nomination.
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The Palmer brothers' houses are significant as examples of the octagon 
fad that was popularized by Orson Fowler in the mid-nineteenth century. 
Both plans were probably taken from Fowler's book, A Home for All or 
the Gravel Wall and Octagon Mode of Building. The houses are associated 
with prominent settlers and residents of Neshonoc and West Salem, Wisconsin. 
Relocation of the houses to West Salem demonstrates the crucial role 
the railway played in the development of Wisconsin communities.

ARCHITECTURE The* octagon house was popularized by Orson Fowler's treatise 
on the subject that first appeared in 1848. Although a comparatively 
small number of the houses were built after 1860, during the 1850s 
the fad swept across America. There are about 20 octagon houses standing 
in Wisconsin. Of these, seven have been listed in the National Register 
of Historic Places.

Both of the nominated houses are excellent examples of the octagon mode 
of architecture. The interiors of both are notable for the retention 
of their early appearance. In neither of the houses, however, is the 
location of the original kitchen apparent. It may be that they were 
located in the basements, as recommended by Orson Fowler, before the 
houses were moved. The octagons have been treated well since they were 
built nearly 125 years ago. Their architectural integrity has not been 
marred by their relocation or subsequent additions, as the dominant 
feature of this type - the eight-sided form - is still apparent.

HISTORY In the fall of 1851 Monroe Plainer arrived in LaCrosse County,
Wisconsin. He had come via Oshkosh from Massachusetts. That winter he
began building a saw and grist mill on the LaCrosse River. In 1852 the
saw mill was in operation and by the next year the grist mill began operation.
In 1855 he achieved full operation, continuing until 1860 when the saw
mill was discontinued. In 1872 he sold the business.

In 1855 Monroe Plamer engaged the Deputy County Surveyor, Isaac Thompson, 
to plat 15 acres near the mill into blocks of 12 lots each to form the 
village of Neshonoc. By the spring of 1858 the population had climbed 
to 100.

The exact year that Palmer built his ocatgon house at Neshonoc is unknown. 
It is known that he built a small log cabin near the site of the mill when he 
arrived in the Town of Hamilton. The octagon was undoubtedly built

1. LaCrosse County Tax Records (continued)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE continued

shortly after the mill, at the height of the fad for the unusual plan.

In 1856 Dr. Horace Palmer from Massachusetts joined his brother in Neshonoc. 
He purchased four lots in the village and sometime during the next few 
years built his octagon house.

In the summer of 1858 the demise of the village of Neshonoc became certain 
when the Chicago, Milwaukee, and St. Paul Railroad located a station on 
land donated by Thomas Leonard. First, Neshonoc merchants began to transfer 
their establishments to West Salem; residents soon followed. However, 
Dr. Palmer practiced medicine in Neshonoc until 1866 when he moved his 
octagon to West Salem. He stayed until 1875, leaving for Sparta, Wisconsin 
where he purchased a drug store.

When Dr. Palmer left West Salem, he sold the octagon to Leonard Lottridge 
and his wife, Dr. Mary Lottridge. Both were prominent residents of the 
community. Leonard Lottridge came to LaCrosse from New York in 1853. 
For several years he was editor of the Independent Republican newspaper. 
He also served as the postmaster at Mindoro, clerk of the court of LaCrosse 
County, supervisor of the 1880 census, and an Internal Revenue Service 
collector. In 1887 he opened the LaCrosse County Bank at West Salem. 
He operated the bank until his retirement in 1904.

Dr. Mary Lottridge studied medicine at the Eclectic Medical College in 
Cincinatti, Ohio (the University of Cincinatti). She graduated in 1856, 
a time when there were few female physicians in the United States. Practicing 
first in LaCrosse,she continued her practice in West Salem when she and 
her husband moved there. Dr. Lottridge died in 1906 and her husband occupied 
the octagon until his death in 1911. Until 1921 the house was occupied, 
first, by Wilbur Dudley, Sr. and then by his daughter and her husband, 
Roy Gilfillian.

In 1921 Oliver Gullickson purchased the house. Mr. Gullickson was super­ 
intendent of the LaCrosse County Insane Asylum (now the Lakeview Health 
Center) for 27 years. He had come to the United States at age 14 from 
Norway in 1870. Gullickson's son, Lynn, later obtained the octagon. His 
widow, Rachel Gullickson, still occupies the house.

The Monroe Palmer octagon was not moved to West Salem until about 1890. 
In that year the house was bought by David R. Lewis. It is not certain 
if Palmer or Lewis moved the house. The house has remained in the Lewis 
family since the 1890 purchase. David Lewis was a farmer who had served

(continued)
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8. SIGNIFICANCE continued

with the Eighth Wisconsin Regiment during the Civil War. In 1903 the octagon 
went to Arthur R. Lewis, one of David Lewis 1 sons. He was also a farmer, 
and served on the county board as a representative from the Town of Hamilton 
for 28 years. In 1976 David B. Lewis bought the farm from his father's 
estate.

The Palmer brothers are good examples of the progressive people who settled 
Wisconsin. The very concept of an octagon house was a radical notion, 
promoted by a practicing phrenologist (Fowler) who also advocated many 
of the social reforms of his day. Fowler believed that spherical forms, 
which the octagon approached, were closest to the forms in nature, therefore 
more commodious and comfortable. Further, he believed that people could 
be the architects of their own homes provided they were endowed with strong 
phrenological organs of Inhabitiveness (love of home) and Constructiveness 
(ability to build). Apparently, the Palmer brothers were so endowed.

1. Madeleine B. Stern. The Octagon House, introduction, p. vii.
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